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AND ITS HISTORY. TE
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THE OLD XNORFOLKE-STREET EDIFIGE"%% .
THE PRESENT CHURCH—SKEI‘CH OF DB.:’;
ARMITAGE—THE SERMON YES’I‘ERDAY. s 4.
The history of the Baptist Churches in t];us
City may be said to commence with the amva{é
from England, in 1709, of Rev. Mr Wickenden;i
the first clergyman of that denomination 1!?'111&:r
scttled within the borders of the State. Thzﬁ%:
was two years afier the first preaching of- at?
Presbyterian minister in. the Duteh Church m"
Garden street, and thirteen after the erectlon-:
of the first Trinity Church on its present site. -
In those days, the popular idea of religious tol-_-,_
erance was a confused one, thouzh the dimness:
of vision does not appear to have been confined”
to any one Church or party. Itwas the fault of!
the times, not of the pecople. Mr. Wlokenden
bad bardly delivered his first sermon before ha:
was arrested and imprisoned, on the groand’
that he had no royal license permitting him to*
preach. He was discharged after threo months'.
confinement, but his name js not mentioned:
in any of the subsequent records of the {imes
In 1712, Rev. Mr. Whitman moved from his.
home in New-England and settled in New-York:
By him services wero celebrated, in the house of.
a Mr. Ayres, who, roused by the example of his;
Pastor, bimself soon afterward became aprcacha.
er. In this primitive little church it was at one
time suggested that the converts be baptized’
at night. for fear of molestation by the mob.
T" e majority, however, opposed this, the results
being the carrying of their complaints by Mr.-
Ayres and scveral other members to Mr. Bur
net, the Governor of the provinee. Fortunately
a Hanoverian King sat on the throne of Great
Britain. Had tke Stuart interest been in the as--
cendent there would have been httie hope for
them. The Governor heard their grievances
with patience, and then promised them the
royal protection to the fullest extent, a pledga’
which he caused to be carried out to the letter.
At the first baptism, afterward, be appeared at
the water-side with several friends, and toold
much interest in the cercmony. Henceforth
the infant church was permitted to dwell in
peace, and full religious liberty for the first time
established in the colony. The first church was:
organized in September, 1724, with Mr. Ayres as
Pastor. Shortly afterward s small meeting-
house was erected on *‘ Golden Hill,” a few hun-<
dred fect from the Baptist Church, which ex:
isted in Gold street within the memory of many:
of our readers. At the end of a ministry of
seven vears Mr. Ayres resigned, subsequently:
removing to Newpors, R. 1., where he died. A
gentleman named Stephens occupied his place
for a few montbs, but, the congregation having
become dispersed, the church organizatio)
was abandoned and the property sbld:
Services were then kept up at short intervals in
private houses, Rev. Benjamin Miller, the clers
gyman at Scotch Plains, N. J., cominz down to
the City (an hour’s ride now, but a day’s jour-
ncy then,) as often as possible. Once in every
three months he administered the Lord’s Sup-
per at the house of some promincnt member.
In 1759 a church of scanty dimensions was
erocted on Gold street, and three years later, in
1762, the first regular society was formed under
the title of “ The First Baptist Church.” This
organization still exists, and is one of the
largest Baptist Churches in this section of the
State, and the second in size in the City.

The mnext in direct line of succession to the
Fifth Avenue Church was that on Fayette
(afterward Oliver) street, founded in 1791 by
members from the parent body. ¥rom this de-
veloped a movement which in 1809 resulted in
the formation of the Mulberry Street Chuveh,
of wbich Rev. Archibald Maclay, formerly a
Presbyterian minister, was Pastor. YWhen this
gentleman joined the Baptists the greater part
of his flock followedhim. The number of mem-
bers in the new orgonization was now 737.
From this was formed in 1823 the Stanton Street
Church, with origirally but twenty-fira mem-
bers, over which Rev. Samuel Eastman presided.
By 1840 this small beginning had increased to
nearly 709, and it became mnecessary for a por-
tion . to colonize. A committee, consisting of.
John N. Wyckoff, Richard C. Ackerly, James
Cowan, Abial Miles, and David Ludlam, was
appointed to select a location for the new edifice.
A church on Norfolk street, corner of Broome,
formerly occupied by a Christian society, was
found vacant, and purchased for $12,000. The
new society, on setting up for itself, contained
361 members, many of themn leadinz ones in the
old socicty. Rev. Geo. Benedict, their clergy-
man in Stanton street, was cnosen Pastor, and
the name of the Norfollk Strcet Baptist Church
adopted. This wason the 13th of February,
1841. New-York contained a population of
300,000, The locality around Eighth street was
known as the ‘ Bowery Village.” Union square
did not exist; Madison square was beyond the
limits of the imagination. As for Fifth, Madi-
son, and Lexington avenues, they had not been
laid out even on paper. Crooked and narrow
streets were the rule, broad and straizsht ave-
nues the exception. Comparatively few build-
ings were lit with gas. In the best houses Cro.
ton water had just supplanted the old-tashioned.
wells and pumps. The Hudson River Boad had
not been begun, and but a few miles of Erie
track stretched to the westward of Jersey City.

At the session of the Hudson River Associa~
tion in the Summer of 1844, Mr. Benedict was.
elcceted, Moderator. His labors, covering alio-
gether a period of twenty-five years, seventeen
in New-York, and seven in the pulpit o:r the
Norfolk Street Church,were abunduntly blessed,
and though disabled by illness for a considera-
ble portion of his last charge, he had the satis-
faction of seeing the church over which he pre-
sided one of the niost flourishing of its denomi-
nation in the City. But it was a deceitful se-
curity.

In June, 1848, a heavy misfortune befell the
society. In that month its church edifice, then
a very valuable piece of property, was burned
to the ground, and the members were left for a
tim# without a placein which to worship. Mean-
time the failing health of their Pastor had com-
pelled his resignation, so that they were now
without either church or clerzyman. In this
emergency the parent socicty came to the ror
lief of the unfortunate congregation with a
kindly tender of the use of their basement as a
place of meeting. This was thankfully ao-
cepted, and, tor a time, the services conducted
in what bad once been the lecture-room of the
united socicties. Still another blow was in
store for them. Within four months after the
disastrous fire which had destroyed the church,
death put an end to the sufferings ot
tkeir beloved pastor. His character was
laborious, conscientious, and unselfish be-
youd that even of the most devoted.
The close of his life was darkened by suffering
which would have overwhelmed a less intrepid,
spirit, but to the end lis patience never waver-
ed nor his trust in the Saviour failed. A
self-denying Pastor, s tender-hearted friend
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Eoan 'ardent-sympathlzer with the weak and
W] -tmdden of every name and race, his mem-
- ohe‘nshed by the Flﬂ}h Avenue Church

to his death he had already dcmgna,ted
3L Mr Armitage as his successor, a choice
.- was confirmed by a unanimous vote of
N congr egation and a ecommittee, with Hon.
,";'_'_gg H. Andrews as Chairman, appointed
walt him at Albany and present the eall. On
fif__;u from Mr. Armitage an assurance of
Tmtbzoeptance, they withdrew, that gentleman
“T-ing them a few days later. His installa-
”occurred carly in the ensuing month, his
firet sermon being preached on a Sunday morn-
%lg mm July, 1848. For several years after the
g:mmencement of his pastorate the projected
... church was still in csse, though at the close
the second year well under way. Dedicatory
.!1‘?1038 were held in the large auditorium
it 'the completed building in January, 1830.
'l'_wa.s, and is now, situated on the cast side of
F&ﬂﬂf street, between Broome and Grand, a
(andsome brown-stone building in the Gothic
-i;yle, with squars totrers at the sides, and a
ting" capacity of nearly 1,009. But by this
ﬁme a large portion of the congregation had
pa.rtlclpated in the general migration. Com-
pa.ra.tlvel y few of the old membors residing in
tho -neighborhood were left, and the future in-
terest of the charch plainly pointed toward the
6arl;s' securing of a proper site in some up-town
docality. Years of discussion elapsed before the
irro_]ect took definite shape, but by the Summer
of 1859 the final removal had been agreed upon,
and a committee deputed to examnine lots in the
'ncnnty of Murray Hill, and report to the
society. The result ot their mission was the
purchase of five lots on the south corner of
Fifth avenue and Forty-sixth street—three on
the avenue and two on the street. For these
87,000 was paid. The old church on Norfolk
street was sold, and the congregation worshiped
‘m a lecture hall, corner of Broadway and Thirty-
mnth strect. Meantime a chapcl had been
eréeted on their property, fronting on Forty-
sixth street, at a cost of $10,000. The capital
with which this enterprite was becun was less
than $3,000. On May 1, 1860, divine service
was celebrated under its roof for the first tine.
In October the corporate name of the socicty
-was changed to the Fifth Avenue Baptist
Church. Some slight alterations in the creed of
the church was also effected. This was that
the Bible alone should constitute their articles
of belief, and the adoption of the ordinary par-
liamentary rules in the tramsaction of church
busmess. In 1861 came the war, with its
financial distress, alienation of families
and bomes, and general gloom and distrust.
The society persevered through all, and though
compelled to part with their pronerty on the
avenue to secure tile necessary funds for the
erection of a church, retained the original in-
vestment on Forty-sixth street, and added two
additional lots on tho west side, making a total
front of 100 feet on Forty-sixth strect. Plauns
Tor a modest though elegant and substantial
edifice were prepared, and ground broken in the
-Spring of 1864. A portion of the chapel was in-
corporated in the new building which was
finished in June, 1865, and dedicated in the
game month. Its cost, including the chapel,
was about $30,000. The text of the Pastor's
dedicatory sermon was the same as that of Dr.
Cone at a sunilar occasion twenty-five years be-
fore—the allegory of the golden candlesticks, in
Revelations, first and second chapters. In the
year following a three-story brown-stone par-
sonago was erected on the east side of the
church, at a cost of some $14,000 cxclu-
sive of land. To-day the wkole property
is valued at mnot 1less than §200,009.
Soon after tleir occupancy of the new church a
revival was inaugurated, under the charze of
Rev. A. B. Earle, in which fiity converts were
added to their ranks. On the 26th of March,
1871, a thirtieth anniversary was celebrated, at
which the Pastor reviewed at length the work
since the foundation. The agorerate was a most
creditable one. In the space of thirty vears
2,250 persons had been admitted to membership,
of whom 70J still remained. Onec thousand five
hundred and sixty persons *‘had gone to other
churches on earth, or to swell the membership
of tle Church above,” and a still greater num-
ber had been brought within the influences of
religious lives and rcligious associations. The
following is a list of the oflicers of the society
for the current vear : Deacons—C. T. Goodwin,
Geco. H. Hansell, John C. Baxter, J. L. Jones,
1. F. Judson, J. F. Coney, Geo. 1I. Andrews, L.
3. Lawson ; Trustees—C. T. Goodwin, W. N.
Wood, J. A Bostwick, J. W. Mason, L. H. Niles,
Peter Balen, \WWm. Rockefeller, H. C. Calkins.
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